
 1 

 

REGULAR CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

MEETING AGENDA 

WEDNESDAY, NOVEMBER 18, 2015 

Regular Meeting - 6:30 PM 

 
City Hall – Beryl P. Robinson, Jr. Conference Room 

317 Broad Street, Nevada City, CA  95959 
 

 

MISSION STATEMENT  

The City of Nevada City is dedicated to preserving and enhancing its small town  

character and historical architecture while providing quality public services for our 

 current and future residents, businesses and visitors. 

 

 

 Jennifer Ray, Mayor 

Robert Bergman, Council Member   Evans Phelps, Vice Mayor 

Terri Andersen, Council Member   Duane Strawser, Council Member 
 

The City Council welcomes you to its meetings which are scheduled at 6:30 PM on the 2nd and 4th Wednesdays of 

each month.  Your interest is encouraged and appreciated.  This meeting is recorded on DVD and is televised on 

local public television Channel 17.  Other special accommodations may be requested to the City Clerk 72 hours in 

advance of the meeting.  Please turn off all cell phones or similar devices.  Action may be taken on any agenda item.  

Agenda notices are available at City Hall.  Materials related to an item on this Agenda submitted to the Council after 

distribution of the agenda packet are available for public inspection in the City Hall at 317 Broad Street, Nevada 

City, CA during normal business hours. 

 
ANY MEMBER OF THE PUBLIC DESIRING TO ADDRESS THE COUNCIL ON ANY ITEM ON THIS 

AGENDA: After receiving recognition from the Mayor, give your name and address, and then your comments or 

questions. Please direct your remarks to the Councilmembers. In order that all interested parties have an opportunity 

to speak, please limit your comments to the specific item under discussion. All citizens will be afforded an 

opportunity to speak, consistent with their Constitutional rights. Time limits shall be at the Mayor's discretion. IF 

YOU CHALLENGE the Council's decision on any matter in court, you will be limited to raising only those issues 

you or someone else raised at the meeting or Public Hearing described on this agenda, or in written correspondence 

delivered to the City Council at, or prior to, the meeting or Public Hearing.   

 

 

REGULAR MEETING – 6:30 PM - Call to Order 

 

Roll Call:  Andersen, Bergman, Strawser, Vice Mayor Phelps, & Mayor Ray 

 

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

 

PROCLAMATION:   Proclaiming November 16-22, 2015 Global Entrepreneurship Week 

 

PRESENTATION:   2016 Wild and Scenic Film Festival Update 

 

BUSINESS FROM THE FLOOR 

 

 

 
 



 2 

1. PUBLIC COMMENT 

 

Under Government Code Section 54954.3, members of the public are entitled to address 

the City Council concerning any item within the Nevada City Council’s subject matter 

jurisdiction. Comments on items NOT ON THE AGENDA are welcome at this time.  

Normally, public comments are limited to no more than three minutes each.  Except for 

certain specific exceptions, the City Council is prohibited from discussing or taking 

action on any item not appearing on the posted agenda. 

 

2. COUNCIL MEMBERS REQUESTED ITEMS AND COMMITTEE REPORTS: 

 

3. CONSENT ITEMS: 

 

All matters listed under the Consent Calendar are to be considered routine by the City Council 

and will be enacted by one motion in the form listed.  There will be no separate discussion of 

these items unless, before the City Council votes on the motion to adopt, members of the 

Council, City staff or the public request specific items to be removed from the Consent Calendar 

for separate discussion and action. 

 

A. Subject: Accounts Payable Reports – September and October 2015 

Recommendation:  Receive and File 

 

      4.  APPROVAL OF ACTION MINUTES: 

 

A. City Council Meeting – October 28, 2015 

 

5. DEPARTMENT REQUESTED ACTION ITEMS AND UPDATE REPORTS: 

 

A. Subject:  County of Nevada AB1600 Recreation Mitigation Funding Request for 

Proposal 

Recommendation:  Authorize submittal of an application for County of Nevada 

Recreation Mitigation Funding for upgrades to the picnic area in Pioneer Park for 

individuals with disabilities. 

 

B. Subject:  Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) Brownfields Cleanup Grant 

Application 

Recommendation:  Pass Resolution 2015-XX authorizing: 1) the Mayor to sign, and 

2) the City Manager to submit the EPA Brownfields grant application and execute all 

necessary documents to facilitate implementation of the grant. 

 

6. PUBLIC HEARINGS: 

 

7. OLD BUSINESS: 

 

A. Subject: An Ordinance of the City of Nevada City amending Chapter 3.52 to Title 3 

of the Nevada City Municipal Code Extending the 3/8 of 1% Transactions and Use 

Tax for General Purposes (First Reading/Requires 4/5ths Vote) 



 3 

Recommendation: Pass draft Ordinance modifying Chapter 3.52 of the Nevada City 

Municipal Code to extend Transaction and Use Tax for General Purposes effective 

upon voter approval.  

 

8. NEW BUSINESS: 

 

A. Subject:  Wild and Scenic Film Festival Street Closure Request 

Recommendation:  Review and authorize Wild and Scenic Film Festival street 

closure request per application. 

 

B. Subject:  Wild and Scenic Film Festival Economic Development Fund Request 

Recommendation:  Review request and Pass a motion authorizing funding in an 

amount to be determined by the City Council from the City of Nevada City Economic 

Development Fund. 

 

C. Subject:  Presentation of Petition Signature Verification Certificate on Initiative 

Measure to Enact Zoning Ordinance and General Plan Amendments to allow Short-

Term Rentals in Nevada City and Council Action Thereon (Submitted by “Nevada 

City Hosts”) 

Recommendation: Review NC Hosts Initiative measure and take action to adopt 

without change, submit to voters at next election, or order a report. 

 

D. Subject:  Update on Initiative Measure Submitted by Committee to Support Measure 

to Protect Neighborhoods from Vacation Rental Impacts 

Recommendation:  Receive and file. 

 

E. Subject:  Summary of the State’s Medical Marijuana Regulation & Safety Act and Its 

Applicability to City’s Authority to Regulate Marijuana Cultivation and Distribution 

within the City. 

Recommendation: Consider options for regulating medical marijuana cultivation 

within the City and refer to the Planning Commission for their review and 

recommendation of draft ordinance. 

 

9. CORRESPONDENCE: 

 

10. ANNOUNCEMENTS: 

 

11. CITY MANAGER’S REPORT: 

 

12. ADJOURNMENT 



 4 

Certification of Posting of Agenda 

I, Corey Shaver, Deputy City Clerk for the City of Nevada City, declare that the foregoing agenda for the November 

18, 2015 Regular Meeting of the Nevada City City Council was posted November 13, 2015 at the office of the City 

of Nevada City (City Hall). The agenda is also posted on the City’s website www.nevadacityca.gov. 

 

Signed this November 13, 2015 at Nevada City, California 

 

 

__________________________________, Corey Shaver, Deputy City Clerk 

 

 

 

 

 

__________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

CITY OF NEVADA CITY 

City Council 

Long Range Calendar 

 

November 11, 2015 Veterans Day 

November 18, 2015 Regular City Council Meeting 

November 26 & 27, 2015 Thanksgiving 

December 9, 2015 Regular City Council Meeting 

December 25, 2015 Christmas 

January 1, 2016  New Year’s Day 

 

 

NOTE:  This list is for planning purposes; items may shift depending on timing and capacity of a meeting. 

 

NOTICE:  As presiding officer, the Mayor has the authority to preserve order at all City Council meetings, to 

remove or cause the removal of any person from any such meeting for disorderly conduct, or for making personal, 

impertinent, or slanderous remarks, using profanity, or becoming boisterous, threatening or personally abusive 

while addressing said Council and to enforce the rules of the Council. 

http://www.nevadacityca.gov/


5



6



7



8



9



10



11



12



13



14



15



16



17



18



 
 

CITY OF NEVADA CITY 
DRAFT ACTION MINUTES 

REGULAR CITY COUNCIL MEETING OF OCTOBER 28, 2015 
 

 
NOTE:  This meeting is available to view on the City’s website www.nevadacityca.gov – Go to Quick Links and 
Click on Agendas & Minutes and find the Archived Videos in the middle of the screen.  Select the meeting date and 
Click on Video to watch the meeting.  For website assistance, please contact Corey Shaver, Deputy City Clerk at 
(530) 265-2496, ext 133. 
 
-  City Council Meetings are available on DVD.  To order, contact City Hall - cost is $15.00 per DVD.   
- Closed Session Meetings are not recorded. 
 

 
 
CLOSED SESSION – 5:30 PM 
 
Pursuant to Government Code Section 54957, a closed session will be held concerning public employee performance 
evaluation for the position of City Manager. 
 
No reportable action taken. 
 
REGULAR MEETING – 6:30 PM - Call to Order 
 
Roll Call:   
Council Members Andersen, Bergman, Strawser, Vice Mayor Phelps, & Mayor Ray 
 
PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 
PROCLAMATION: 
 
Nisenan Heritage Days – November 6 and 7, 2015 
 
PRESENTATION:    
 
Sierra Harvest about their Fresh Food Education and Access Programming 
 
1.  BUSINESS FROM THE FLOOR-PUBLIC COMMENT (Per Government Code Section 54954.3) 
 
Please refer to the meeting video on the City’s website at www.nevdacityca.gov. 
 
2.  COUNCIL MEMBERS REQUESTED ITEMS AND COMMITTEE REPORTS: 
 
Please refer to the meeting video on the City’s website at www.nevdacityca.gov. 
 
3.  CONSENT ITEMS: 
 
A.  Subject:  Sugarloaf Mountain Hazardous Fuels Reduction Plan and Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) to Affirm 
Rights of Access and Responsibilities for the Sugarloaf Mountain Fuel Reduction Project 
Recommendation:  Adopt the Sugarloaf Mountain Hazardous Fuels Reduction Plan and authorize the Mayor to sign the 
MOU to Affirm Rights of Access and Responsibilities for the Sugarloaf Mountain Fuel Reduction Project. 

 
B.  Subject: Amendment No. 2 to the Multi-Jurisdictional Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) for Cable Television 
Programming 
Recommendation:  Pass a motion authorizing the Mayor to sign Amendment No. 2 to the Multi-Jurisdictional MOU for 
Cable Television Programming. 

 
C.  Subject: Cold Winter Shelter Working Agreement Extension 
Recommendation: Pass a Motion authorizing extension of the Cold Weather Shelter working agreement to May 1, 2017. 
 

19

http://www.nevadacityca.gov/
http://www.nevdacityca.gov/
http://www.nevdacityca.gov/


 
 
Items B and C were pulled for discussion. 
 
Action:  Motion by Andersen, seconded by Strawser to approve Consent Items A as presented. 
(Approved 5 – 0) 
 
Action:  Motion by Strawser, seconded by Andersen to approve Consent Item B after discussion. 
(Approved 5 – 0) 
 
Action:  Motion by Strawser, seconded by Bergman to approve Consent Item C after discussion. 
(Approved 5 – 0) 
 
4.  APPROVAL OF ACTION MINUTES: 
 
Regular City Council Meeting October 7, 2015 
 
Action:  Motion by Strawser, seconded by Bergman to approve the October 7, 2015 minutes as amended with 
corrections relating to Consent Items A & D were pulled for discussion and approved; and B, C and E approved as 
presented.  
(Approved 5 – 0) 
 
5.  DEPARTMENT REQUESTED ACTION ITEMS AND UPDATE REPORTS: 
 
A.  Subject: 4th Quarter Financial Update, Fiscal Year 14/15 
 
Received and Filed 
 
6.  PUBLIC HEARINGS: 
None 
 
7.  OLD BUSINESS: 
 
A.  Subject: A Resolution of the City Council Designating Checklist Items to be Eligible for Expedited Review of Small 
Residential Rooftop Solar Energy Systems 
 
Action:  Motion by Strawser, seconded by Andersen to adopt Resolution No. 2015-47 Designating Checklist Items to be 
Eligible for Expedited Review of Small Residential Rooftop Solar Systems in Nevada City. 
(Approved 5 – 0) 
 
B.  Subject: An Ordinance of the City of Nevada City adding Chapter 15.06 to Title 15 of the Nevada City Municipal 
Code Relating to Expedited and Streamlined Permitting Procedures for Small Residential Rooftop Solar Energy Systems 
(Second Reading) 
 
Action:  Motion by Strawser, seconded by Andersen to adopt Ordinance No. 2015-10 Adding Chapter 15.06 to Title 15 of 
the Nevada City Municipal Code Relating to Expedited and Streamlined Permitting Procedures for Small Residential 
Rooftop Solar Energy Systems. 
(Approved 5 – 0) 
 
C.  Subject: An Ordinance of the City of Nevada City Repealing and Reenacting Chapter 5.04 to Title 5 of the Nevada 
City Municipal Code Relating to Business Licenses Subject to Voter Approval (Second Reading); Resolution Approving 
Ballot Measure Text 
 
Action:  Motion by Strawser, seconded by Phelps to adopt Ordinance No. 2015-11 Repealing and Re-enacting Chapter 
5.04 to Title 5 of the Nevada City Municipal Code Relating to Business Licenses; and adopt Resolution No. 2015-48 
Approving Ballot Measure Text to the Submitted to the Voters in a Question Relating to Simplification and Modernization 
of the City Business License Tax to be Included with the Presidential Primary Election of June 7, 2016 
(Approved 5 – 0) 

20



 
D.  Subject: Review of Seating and Tables in Robinson Plaza 
 
Direction to Staff to limit the size of the tables to 36” diameter with a maximum of three total and send to Planning 
Commission for their review. 
 
8.  NEW BUSINESS: 
 
A.  Subject:  Customer Account Sewer Rate Adjustment Procedures 
 
Action:  Motion by Strawser, seconded by Phelps to adopt Resolution No. 2015-49 Approving a Customer Account 
Sewer Rate Adjustment Procedure. 
(Approved 5 – 0) 

 
B.  Subject:  Transaction and Use Tax Options for June 7, 2016 Ballot 
 
Direct staff to draft an ordinance removing the sunset clause from the existing 3/8 cent Measure L General Sales Tax for 
review at the November 18, 2015 City Council meeting. 
 
9.  CORRESPONDENCE: 
 
10.  ANNOUNCEMENTS: 
 
11.  CITY MANAGER’S REPORT: 
 
12.  ADJOURNMENT 
        _______________________________ 
        Jennifer Ray, Mayor 
 
Attest: 
 
 
_________________________________  
Niel Locke, City Clerk 

21



REPORT TO CITY COUNCIL    City of Nevada City 

         317 Broad Street 
         Nevada City, CA  95959 

November 18, 2015      www.nevadacityca.gov 
_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

TITLE: County of Nevada AB1600 Recreation Mitigation Funding Request for 
Proposals 
 
RECOMMENDATION: Authorize submittal of an application for County of Nevada 
Recreation Mitigation Funding for upgrades to the picnic area in Pioneer Park for 
individuals with disabilities. 
 
CONTACT:  Dawn Zydonis, Parks & Recreation Supervisor 
 
BACKGROUND / DISCUSSION:   The Nevada County Planning Department is 
soliciting proposals for capital improvement projects at new or existing recreation 
facilities located in the Nevada City Subzone Area.  There is $29,000 available in the 
Nevada City Subzone Area. Applications are due December 18, 2015. 
 
California Government Code Section 66000 through 66025, more commonly referred to 
as AB1600 or the Mitigation Fee Act, provide specific enabling legislation for the 
establishment and collection of development impact fees by a local agency for the 
purpose of defraying all or a portion of the cost of public facilities related to new 
development projects.  Effectively, all new housing must pay their proportionate share 
for the expansion of infrastructure needed to offset the demand for services that they 
create.   
 
Nevada County began collecting recreation mitigation fees pursuant to AB1600 in 
January 1998.  There are five benefit zones in Nevada County: Bear River, Grass 
Valley/Nevada City, Truckee-Donner, Twin Ridges, and Western Gateway.  The 
Nevada County Board of Supervisors is responsible for administering recreation 
mitigation fees collected within the Grass Valley/Nevada City and Twin Ridges Benefit 
Zones. 
 
The following types of projects are eligible for recreation mitigation funding: 

1. Acquisition of new parklands 
2. Creation of a new recreation facility primarily open for full and public use 
3. Significant expansion of the capacity or availability of an existing recreation 

facility primarily open for full and public use. 
 
City staff recommend applying for funding to make improvements and upgrades to the 
picnic area at Pioneer Park for individuals who have disabilities.  These improvements 
would include the following: 

1. Re-surfacing the path to the picnic area (it is not smooth, so therefore not easily 
accessible).  Estimated cost: $8,000 

22

http://www.nevadacityca.gov/


2. Adding a shade structure.  The area is unusable on summer days due to sun 
exposure.  A shade structure would make it a more comfortable environment any 
time of day.  Estimated cost: $5,000 

3. Adding “counters” to either side of the BBQ to allow for easier food preparation. 
Estimated cost: $1,000 

4. Adding additional seating.  Estimated cost: $500 
The City has received $500 from the Gold Country Lions Club, which have been 
designated for a Pioneer Park project benefitting individuals who have disabilities.   
 

Total estimated project costs:    $14,500.   
Lions Club Donation:     $500 
County AB1600 Picnic Area Improvements allotment: $14,000 

 
ENVIRONMENTAL CONSIDERATIONS: There are no environmental impacts for the 
Picnic Area project. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT:   This project would be completely funded by AB1600 funds and 
donations, however staff time to complete the project would be the City’s contribution to 
the project. 
 
ATTACHMENT: 

 Map of Pioneer Park – highlighting picnic area for individuals who have 
disabilities 

23



24



REPORT TO CITY COUNCIL    City of Nevada City 

         317 Broad Street 
         Nevada City, CA  95959 

November 18, 2015      www.nevadacityca.gov 
 
_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

TITLE: Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) Brownfields Cleanup Grant 
Application 
 
RECOMMENDATION:  Pass Resolution 2015-XX authorizing: 1) the Mayor to sign, and 
2) the City Manager to submit the EPA Brownfields grant application and execute all 
necessary documents to facilitate implementation of the grant. 
 
CONTACT:  Dawn Zydonis, Parks & Recreation Supervisor 
 
BACKGROUND / DISCUSSION:   The City is currently working with SSI to complete 
three Brownfield’s Cleanup Projects.  One project has been completed at the Stiles Mill 
site under the Pine Street Bridge.  The other two projects are located at the old 
Providence Mine site on the City’s Environ’s Property.  These projects are completed on 
the ground; final reporting for the grant will be completed to finish the grant by the 
November 30th deadline.  (See the attached map for project locations.) 
 
City staff recommends that the City partner with SSI to apply for a new Brownfields 
Cleanup Grant offered by the EPA.  This grant would provide funding to clean up the 
last piece of City property that has contaminated soils that remain from the historical 
activities of the Providence Mine.  The location where contaminated soils still exists is 
the location where the Stamp Mill sat.  This clean-up project would allow for the 
potential extension of the Environs Trail and parking for the public to have easy access 
to the trail.  Those suggestions are not part of the grant application, but the clean-up 
project would allow for those types of development to take place in the future. 
 
The City has ownership of almost 300 acres of open space.  One responsibility of the 
City is to ensure that these lands are safe for public use.  This clean-up project will 
make a space where trails can be developed without concern of creating any health 
hazards.   
 
ENVIRONMENTAL CONSIDERATIONS:  This project is designed to clean-up the 
environment and ensure that mine waste material does not move downhill into Deer 
Creek.  All appropriate environmental processes will be completed, including California 
Environmental Quality Act requirements. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT:   The grant maximum request is $200,000.  SSI intends to apply for 
the full grant request.  The City would be the lead fiscal agent on the project.  6% of the 
grant would be budgeted for staff time on the project.  $40,000 will also be included as a 
match through funding from Sierra Streams Institute. 

25

http://www.nevadacityca.gov/


 
ATTACHMENTS: 

 Project Description 
 Map of Brownfields Projects – past and proposed 
 Resolution 2015-XX 

26



Providence Quartz Mill 

Project Description 

The City, along with non-profit partner Sierra Streams Institute has completed two phases of cleanup of 

mine waste at the Providence Mine site located on the 38-acre City owned Environs open space 

property. The cleanups were funded by grants from USEPA Brownfields program and from the Sierra 

Nevada Conservancy (SNC).  A second SNC grant was awarded to SSI to complete an assessment of mine 

waste remaining on the Environs property.  High levels of lead and mercury, in some areas well over 

hazardous waste levels, were found at the Providence Quartz Mill site across Providence Mine Road 

from the Mine cleanup site.    At City Staff’s request, Sierra Streams Institute is preparing a proposal for 

a new Brownfields Cleanup Grant for $200,000 to clean up the Providence Quartz Mill site.  This would 

complete the cleanup of the Environs property making the entire property safe for public use.   

27



The Environs Property: Providence Mine Site 

28



S les Mill; under the Pine St. Bridge 

29



RESOLUTION 2015-XX 

 

RESOLUTION OF THE CITY OF NEVADA CITY 

AUTHORIZING THE CITY TO APPLY FOR AN ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION 

AGENCY (EPA) BROWNFIELDS CLEANUP GRANT APPLICATION 

 

 WHEREAS, the EPA’s Brownfields Program is designed to empower 
communities and stakeholders to work together in a timely manner to prevent, assess, 
safely clean up, and sustainably reuse brownsfields; and 
 

 WHEREAS, Brownsfields Cleanup grants providing funding for a cleanup 
activities at specific sites; and  

 

 WHEREAS, the City of Nevada City is currently working with Sierra Streams 
Institute (SSI) to complete three Brownfield’s Clean-up projects; and 
 

 WHEREAS, the Quartz Mill cleanup is the last remaining parcel of a string of 
successes in cleaning up mining toxins on Nevada City’s 39 acre Environs open space 
property; and  
 

 WHEREAS, this cleanup project will ensure the City’s open space property is 
safe for public use and access. 
  

BE IT RESOLVED, the City Council of the City of Nevada City to: 
 
1. Authorize the Mayor to sign the Resolution. 

 
2. Authorize the City Manager or designee to submit the EPA Brownfields 

grant application and execute all necessary documents to facilitate 
implementation of the grant. 

 

PASSED AND ADOPTED at a regularly scheduled meeting of the Nevada City 
City Council held on this 18th day of November, 2015 by the following vote: 
 
 

AYES: 

 

NOES: 

 

ABSENT: 

 

ABSTAIN: 

_____________________________ 

Jennifer M. Ray, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

 

_________________________________ 

Niel Locke, City Clerk 

30



REPORT TO CITY COUNCIL    City of Nevada City 

         317 Broad Street 
         Nevada City, CA  95959 

November 18, 2015      www.nevadacityca.gov 
 
_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

TITLE:  An Ordinance of the City of Nevada City amending Chapter 3.52 to Title 3 
of the Nevada City Municipal Code Extending the 3/8 of 1% Transactions and Use 
Tax for General Purposes (First Reading / Requires 4/5ths Vote) 
 
RECOMMENDATION: Pass draft Ordinance modifying Chapter 3.52 of the Nevada City 
Municipal Code to extend Transaction and Use Tax for General Purposes effective upon 
voter approval. 
 
CONTACT:  Mark Prestwich, City Manager 
 
BACKGROUND: On January 22, 2015, the City Council unanimously adopted a long-
term funding strategy to place a transactions and use tax (sales tax) measure on the June 
7, 2016 ballot. This decision was made after the City received notice from the Nevada 
County Consolidated Fire District that they were ending an 11-year co-staffing 
relationship of providing three firefighters to Nevada City’s Fire Station 54 on Providence 
Mine Road after April 19, 2015, resulting in a new annual operational cost of $275,000 to 
the City’s General Fund.  
 
DISCUSSION: On October 28, 2015, the City Council provided direction to Staff to 
prepare an Ordinance, subject to voter approval, extending the 3/8 of 1% Transactions 
and Use Tax for general purposes indefinitely. The annual projected revenue of $432,000 
would allow the City to adequately address its citywide operational, capital and 
maintenance needs, and prevent a deteroriation in service levels. The proposed 
ordinance requires a 4/5 vote in order to be placed on the June 7, 2016 ballot. 
 
ENVIRONMENTAL CONSIDERATIONS: Not applicable. 
 
FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS:  California state law authorizes cities to seek voter 
approval of transaction and use taxes in multiples of 0.125 percent so long as the 
combined transaction and use taxes do not exceed two percent. General Purpose sales 
tax revenues may be used for any General Fund purpose including Fire, Police, Parks 
and general maintenance requirements. An extension of the City’s existing 3/8 cent 
General Purpose sales tax would provide approximately $432,000 annually. It is 
estimated that non-City residents generate more than 60% of Nevada City sales tax 
revenues.  
 
ATTACHMENT:   

 Draft Ordinance Modifying Chapter 3.52 of the Nevada City Municipal Code  

31

http://www.nevadacityca.gov/


ORDINANCE NO. 2015-XX 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF NEVADA CITY EXTENDING 

THE 3/8 OF 1% TRANSACTIONS AND USE TAX FOR GENERAL PURPOSES TO 

CONTINUE TO BE ADMINISTERED BY THE STATE BOARD OF EQUALIZATION 

 

WHEREAS, pursuant to California Revenue and Taxation Code Sections 7285.9, the City of 

Nevada City (the "City") has the authority to levy a Transactions and Use Tax for general 

purposes; 

WHEREAS, a majority of the voters of the City approved a three-eighths cent per one dollar 

(0.375%) Transactions and Use Tax at an election held on November 6, 2012; 

WHEREAS, the City's Transactions and Use Tax Ordinance is found in Chapter 3.52 of Title 3 

of the City's Municipal Code; 

 

WHEREAS, Section 3.52.160 of Chapter 3.52 sets forth a "Termination Date" of  five (5) years 

after its operative date, at which time Chapter 3.52 will be repealed unless an amendment is 

approved by the voters of the City at an election called for that purpose; and 

 

WHEREAS, an amendment of the City's Transactions and Use Tax will be submitted to the 

voters to delete the sunset provision of Section 3.52.160 and thus extend the "Termination Date" 

of Chapter 3.52 indefinitely. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF NEVADA CITY DOES 

HEREBY ORDAIN AS FOLLOWS:  

Section 1.  Amendment.  Section 3.52.160 of Chapter 3.52 of Title 3 of the City's Municipal 

Code providing that the tax shall expire five (5) years after its operative date is hereby repealed. 

Section 2. Approval by the Voters. This Ordinance shall be submitted to the voters at the 

general municipal election to be held on June 7, 2016.  Upon approval by a majority of the voters 

of the City voting on this Ordinance, the Transactions and Use Tax set forth in Chapter 3.26 of 

the City's Municipal Code shall be re-authorized and extended indefinitely.  

 

PASSED AND ADOPTED at a regularly scheduled meeting by the City Council of the City of 

Nevada City this_________ day of ______________, 2015, by a two-thirds vote of the City 

Council, by the following vote:  

 

AYES: 

NOES: 

ABSTAIN/ABSENT: 

   

                                                                            Jennifer Ray, Mayor 

 

 

Attest:   

 Niel Locke, City Clerk 

 
32



REPORT TO CITY COUNCIL   City of Nevada City 

        317 Broad Street 
        Nevada City CA 95959 
        www.nevadacityca.gov 

November 18, 2015 
______________________________________________________________ 
 
TITLE:  Wild and Scenic Film Festival Street Closure Request  
 
RECOMMENDATION:  Review and authorize Wild and Scenic Film Festival 
street closure request per application. 
 
CONTACT:  Mark Prestwich, City Manager 
 
BACKGROUND / DISCUSSION:  The City received a Street Closure request to 
close Commercial Street between Main Street and N. Pine Street for January 16 
and January 17, 2016 to facilitate the Wild and Scenic Film Festival. The 
proposed event hours are from 9:00 a.m. to 10:00 p.m. 
  
A summary of the specific event characteristics and recommended staff 
conditions are included in the application packet along with a calendar of existing 
planned street closures. 
 
ENVIRONMENTAL CONSIDERATIONS:  Not applicable. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT:  Not applicable. 
 
ATTACHMENTS:   
 

 Street Closure/Special Event Application 
 City of Nevada City Special Event Street Closures 

 

33

http://www.nevadacityca.gov/


34



35



36



37



38



39



40



41



42



43



44



45



46



47



 
City of Nevada City Special Event Road Closures               
(530)265-2496 
www.nevadacityca.gov                
 
Calendar Year:  2015 

Day/Date 
 

Start 
Time 

End Time Event Sponsor Planned Route Street Closure 

Saturday, January 17, 2015 09:00 AM 10:30 PM Wild & Scenic Film 
Festival 

South Yuba River Citizens 
League; Melinda Booth 
(530)264-5961 ext202 

Commercial St. (from Alpha parking lot to Pine St.) 

Sunday, January 18, 2015 05:00 PM 10:00 PM Wild & Scenic Film 
Festival 

Treats/ Peggy and Bob Wright 
(530)470-0986 

York St. between Broad St. and Commercial St. 

Sunday, February 15, 2015 09:00 AM 05:00 PM Mardi Gras Street 
Faire 

Nevada City Chamber of 
Commerce; (530)265-2692 

Pine St. from Broad St. to Commercial St. and 
Commercial St. from Pine to the Three Forks Bakery 
parking lot. 

Sunday, February 15, 2015 12:00 PM 03:30 PM Mardi Gras Parade Nevada City Chamber of 
Commerce; (530)265-2692 

Broad St. from Orchard St. to Union St.  Union St. from 
Spring St. to Commercial St. Pine St. from Spring St. to 
Commercial St.  York St. from Broad St. to Commercial 
St.  Bridge St from Broad St. to Spring St. Mill St from 
Broad St. to Spring St.    

Sunday, March 8, 2015 10:00 AM 3:00 PM Nevada City Chinese 
Lunar New Year 
Festival 

Community Asian Theatre of the 
Sierra  

Commercial St. from the Chinese Monument to 
Robinson Plaza on Union St.  

Friday, May 15, 2015 09:30 AM 9:50 AM BEAR (Be Excited 
About Reading) 
Parade 

Nevada City Chamber of 
Commerce; (530)265-2692 and 
Nevada City School District 

Broad St. between National Hotel and Methodist Church. 

Saturday, June 13, 2015 06:30 AM 02:00 PM Nevada City Farmers 
Market 

Nevada City Farmers Market 
Association (NCFMA)/ Vanessa 
Wich (530)264-8995 

Union St. between Broad St. and Commercial St. and 
Robinson Plaza. 

Saturday, June 20, 2015 06:30 AM 02:00 PM Nevada City Farmers 
Market 

Nevada City Farmers Market 
Association (NCFMA)/ Vanessa 
Wich (530)264-8995 

Union St. between Broad St. and Commercial St. and 
Robinson Plaza. 

48



Day/Date 
 

Start 
Time 

End Time Event Sponsor Planned Route Street Closure 

Sunday, June 21, 2015 09:00 AM 07:00 PM Nevada City Bicycle 
Classic 

Nevada City Chamber of 
Commerce; (530)265-2692 

N. Pine from Broad St. to Commercial St. (closed 9am-
7pm). 200 Block of Broad St. from Pine to Union St. 
(closed 10am-7pm). Broad St. from Main St. to Union St. 
Unions St. from broad St. to Commercial St.  Commercial 
St. from Union St. to York St. York St. from Commercial 
St. to N. Pine St. Pine St. from E. Broad St. to Spring St.  
Cottage St. from N. pine St. to main St.  Main St. from 
Cottage St. to Broad St.  School St. Winter St. See Map. 

Saturday, June 27, 2015 06:30 AM 02:00 PM Nevada City Farmers 
Market 

Nevada City Farmers Market 
Association (NCFMA)/ Vanessa 
Wich (530)264-8995 

Union St. between Broad St. and Commercial St. and 
Robinson Plaza. 

Saturday, July 4, 2015 06:30 AM 02:00 PM Nevada City Farmers 
Market 

Nevada City Farmers Market 
Association (NCFMA)/ Vanessa 
Wich (530)264-8995 

Union St. between Broad St. and Commercial St. and 
Robinson Plaza. 

Saturday, July 11, 2015 06:30 AM 02:00 PM Nevada City Farmers 
Market 

Nevada City Farmers Market 
Association (NCFMA)/ Vanessa 
Wich (530)264-8995 

Union St. between Broad St. and Commercial St. and 
Robinson Plaza. 

Wednesday, July 15, 2015 05:00 PM 11:00 PM Summer Nights in 
Nevada City 

Nevada City Chamber of 
Commerce; (530)265-2692 

Broad St. from Mill St. to Union St.  Union St. from Broad 
St. to Commercial St.  Commercial St. from Union St. to 
Broad St.  York St. from Broad St. to Pine St. S. Pine St. 
from Spring St. to Washington St.  Church St. from Pine 
St. to Main St.  Main St. from Commercial St. to Church 
St.   

Saturday, July 18, 2015 06:30 AM 02:00 PM Nevada City Farmers 
Market 

Nevada City Farmers Market 
Association (NCFMA)/ Vanessa 
Wich (530)264-8995 

Union St. between Broad St. and Commercial St. and 
Robinson Plaza. 

Wednesday, July 22, 2015 05:00 PM 11:00 PM Summer Nights in 
Nevada City 

Nevada City Chamber of 
Commerce; (530)265-2692 

Broad St. from Mill St. to Union St.  Union St. from Broad 
St. to Commercial St.  Commercial St. from Union St. to 
Broad St.  York St. from Broad St. to Pine St. S. Pine St. 
from Spring St. to Washington St.  Church St. from Pine 
St. to Main St.  Main St. from Commercial St. to Church 
St.   

Saturday, July 25, 2015 06:30 AM 02:00 PM Nevada City Farmers 
Market 

Nevada City Farmers Market 
Association (NCFMA)/ Vanessa 
Wich (530)264-8995 

Union St. between Broad St. and Commercial St. and 
Robinson Plaza. 

Wednesday, July 29, 2015 05:00 PM 11:00 PM Summer Nights in 
Nevada City 

Nevada City Chamber of 
Commerce; (530)265-2692 

Broad St. from Mill St. to Union St.  Union St. from Broad 
St. to Commercial St.  Commercial St. from Union St. to 
Broad St.  York St. from Broad St. to Pine St. S. Pine St. 
from Spring St. to Washington St.  Church St. from Pine 
St. to Main St.  Main St. from Commercial St. to Church 
St.   

49



Day/Date 
 

Start 
Time 

End Time Event Sponsor Planned Route Street Closure 

Saturday, August 1, 2015 06:30 AM 02:00 PM Nevada City Farmers 
Market 

Nevada City Farmers Market 
Association (NCFMA)/ Vanessa 
Wich (530)264-8995 

Union St. between Broad St. and Commercial St. and 
Robinson Plaza. 

Saturday, August 8, 2015 06:30 AM 02:00 PM Nevada City Farmers 
Market 

Nevada City Farmers Market 
Association (NCFMA)/ Vanessa 
Wich (530)264-8995 

Union St. between Broad St. and Commercial St. and 
Robinson Plaza. 

Saturday, August 15, 2015 06:30 AM 02:00 PM Nevada City Farmers 
Market 

Nevada City Farmers Market 
Association (NCFMA)/ Vanessa 
Wich (530)264-8995 

Union St. between Broad St. and Commercial St. and 
Robinson Plaza. 

Saturday, August 22, 2015 06:30 AM 02:00 PM Nevada City Farmers 
Market 

Nevada City Farmers Market 
Association (NCFMA)/ Vanessa 
Wich (530)264-8995 

Union St. between Broad St. and Commercial St. and 
Robinson Plaza. 

Saturday, August 29, 2015 06:30 AM 02:00 PM Nevada City Farmers 
Market 

Nevada City Farmers Market 
Association (NCFMA)/ Vanessa 
Wich (530)264-8995 

Union St. between Broad St. and Commercial St. and 
Robinson Plaza. 

Saturday, September 5, 2015 06:30 AM 02:00 PM Nevada City Farmers 
Market 

Nevada City Farmers Market 
Association (NCFMA)/ Vanessa 
Wich (530)264-8995 

Union St. between Broad St. and Commercial St. and 
Robinson Plaza. 

Saturday, September 12, 2015 06:30 AM 02:00 PM Nevada City Farmers 
Market 

Nevada City Farmers Market 
Association (NCFMA)/ Vanessa 
Wich (530)264-8995 

Union St. between Broad St. and Commercial St. and 
Robinson Plaza. 

Saturday, September 12, 2015 03:00 PM 08:00 PM Constitution Day 
Concert 

Nevada City Chamber of 
Commerce; (530)265-2692 and 
Nevada Lodge #13 

Pine St. between Broad St. and Commercial St. 

Sunday, September 13, 2015 12:15 PM 04:30 PM Constitution Day 
Parade 

Nevada City Chamber of 
Commerce; (530)265-2692 and 
Nevada Lodge #13 

Broad St. from the Y to Union St.  Union St. from broad 
St. to Commercial St.  Coyote St. from Commercial St. to 
Washington St.  Commercial At. From Unions St. to 
Church St.  Church St. from broad St. to Pine St.  Bennett 
St. from Spring St. to Broad St. 

Saturday, September 19, 2015 06:30 AM 02:00 PM Nevada City Farmers 
Market 

Nevada City Farmers Market 
Association (NCFMA)/ Vanessa 
Wich (530)264-8995 

Union St. between Broad St. and Commercial St. and 
Robinson Plaza. 

Saturday, September 26, 2015 06:30 AM 02:00 PM Nevada City Farmers 
Market 

Nevada City Farmers Market 
Association (NCFMA)/ Vanessa 
Wich (530)264-8995 

Union St. between Broad St. and Commercial St. and 
Robinson Plaza. 

Saturday, October 3, 2015 06:30 AM 02:00 PM Nevada City Farmers 
Market 

Nevada City Farmers Market 
Association (NCFMA)/ Vanessa 
Wich (530)264-8995 

Union St. between Broad St. and Commercial St. and 
Robinson Plaza. 

50



Day/Date 
 

Start 
Time 

End Time Event Sponsor Planned Route Street Closure 

Saturday, October 10, 2015 06:30 AM 02:00 PM Nevada City Farmers 
Market 

Nevada City Farmers Market 
Association (NCFMA)/ Vanessa 
Wich (530)264-8995 

Union St. between Broad St. and Commercial St. and 
Robinson Plaza. 

Saturday, October 17, 2015 06:30 AM 02:00 PM Nevada City Farmers 
Market 

Nevada City Farmers Market 
Association (NCFMA)/ Vanessa 
Wich (530)264-8995 

Union St. between Broad St. and Commercial St. and 
Robinson Plaza. 

Saturday, October 24, 2015 06:30 AM 02:00 PM Nevada City Farmers 
Market 

Nevada City Farmers Market 
Association (NCFMA)/ Vanessa 
Wich (530)264-8995 

Union St. between Broad St. and Commercial St. and 
Robinson Plaza. 

Saturday, October 31, 2015 06:30 AM 02:00 PM Nevada City Farmers 
Market 

Nevada City Farmers Market 
Association (NCFMA)/ Vanessa 
Wich (530)264-8995 

Union St. between Broad St. and Commercial St. and 
Robinson Plaza. 

WITHDRAWN FOR 2015 
Saturday, October 31, 2015 

04:00 PM 06:00 PM Halloween Parade Nevada City Chamber of 
Commerce; (530)265-2692 

Broad St. from Orchard St. to Union St.  Union St. from 
Spring St. to Commercial St. Pine St. from Spring St. to 
Commercial St.  York St. from Broad St. to Commercial 
St.  Bridge St from Broad St. to Spring St. Mill St from 
Broad St. to Spring St.    

Saturday, November 7, 2015 06:30 AM 02:00 PM Nevada City Farmers 
Market 

Nevada City Farmers Market 
Association (NCFMA)/ Vanessa 
Wich (530)264-8995 

Union St. between Broad St. and Commercial St. and 
Robinson Plaza. 

Saturday, November 14, 2015 06:30 AM 02:00 PM Nevada City Farmers 
Market 

Nevada City Farmers Market 
Association (NCFMA)/ Vanessa 
Wich (530)264-8995 

Union St. between Broad St. and Commercial St. and 
Robinson Plaza. 

Saturday, November 21, 2015 06:30 AM 02:00 PM Nevada City Farmers 
Market 

Nevada City Farmers Market 
Association (NCFMA)/ Vanessa 
Wich (530)264-8995 

Union St. between Broad St. and Commercial St. and 
Robinson Plaza. 

Sunday, December 6, 2015 12:30 PM 07:30 PM Victorian Christmas Nevada City Chamber of 
Commerce (530)265-2692 

Broad St. from Mill St. to Union St.  Union St. from Spring 
St. to Broad St. Pine St. from Spring St. to Washington St.  
York St. from Broad St. to Washington St.  Bridge St from 
Broad St. to Spring St. Commercial St from Broad St. to 
Union St. Main St, from Commercial St. to Church St.  
Church St. from Main St. to Pine St.    

Sunday, December 13, 2015 12:30 PM 07:30 PM Victorian Christmas Nevada City Chamber of 
Commerce (530)265-2692 

Broad St. from Mill St. to Union St.  Union St. from Spring 
St. to Broad St. Pine St. from Spring St. to Washington St.  
York St. from Broad St. to Washington St.  Bridge St from 
Broad St. to Spring St. Commercial St from Broad St. to 
Union St. Main St, from Commercial St. to Church St.  
Church St. from Main St. to Pine St.    

51



Day/Date 
 

Start 
Time 

End Time Event Sponsor Planned Route Street Closure 

Wednesday, December 16, 2015 04:00 PM 10:30 PM Victorian Christmas Nevada City Chamber of 
Commerce (530)265-2692 

Broad St. from Mill St. to Union St.  Union St. from Spring 
St. to Broad St. Pine St. from Spring St. to Washington St.  
York St. from Broad St. to Washington St.  Bridge St from 
Broad St. to Spring St. Commercial St from Broad St. to 
Union St. Main St, from Commercial St. to Church St.  
Church St. from Main St. to Pine St.    

Sunday, December 20, 2015 12:30 PM 07:30 PM Victorian Christmas Nevada City Chamber of 
Commerce (530)265-2692 

Broad St. from Mill St. to Union St.  Union St. from Spring 
St. to Broad St. Pine St. from Spring St. to Washington St.  
York St. from Broad St. to Washington St.  Bridge St from 
Broad St. to Spring St. Commercial St from Broad St. to 
Union St. Main St, from Commercial St. to Church St.  
Church St. from Main St. to Pine St.    

Wednesday, December 23, 2015 04:00 PM 10:30 PM Victorian Christmas Nevada City Chamber of 
Commerce (530)265-2692 

Broad St. from Mill St. to Union St.  Union St. from Spring 
St. to Broad St. Pine St. from Spring St. to Washington St.  
York St. from Broad St. to Washington St.  Bridge St from 
Broad St. to Spring St. Commercial St from Broad St. to 
Union St. Main St, from Commercial St. to Church St.  
Church St. from Main St. to Pine St.    

Sunday, February 14, 2016 09:00 AM 05:00 PM Mardi Gras Street 
Faire 

Nevada City Chamber of 
Commerce; (530)265-2692 

Pine St. from Broad St. to Commercial St. and 
Commercial St. from Pine to the Three Forks Bakery 
parking lot. 

 
 
 

52



REPORT TO CITY COUNCIL 
         City of Nevada City 

         317 Broad Street 
         Nevada City, CA  95959 

November 18, 2015      www.nevadacityca.gov 
_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

TITLE:  Wild and Scenic Film Festival Economic Development Fund Request 
 
RECOMMENDATION:  Review request and Pass a Motion authorizing funding in an 
amount determined by the City Council from the City of Nevada City Economic 
Development Fund. 
 
CONTACT:  Mark Prestwich, City Manager 
 
BACKGROUND / DISCUSSION:  On September 23, 2015, the City Council established 
the Nevada City Economic Development Fund to support programs and projects 
benefitting the City’s long-term economic development goals. Proposals for use of funds 
must meet one or more stated goals and provide a public benefit to the City.  
 
Five goals were identified for the Economic Development Program: 

 Diversify the local economy 

 Promote economic vitality in Nevada City 

 Increase the tax base 

 Leverage other resources to create and retain employment; and 

 Meet or support NCFORWARD economic plan goals. 

On November 4, the City received an application and funding request from the South 
Yuba River Citizens League (SYRCL) to provide support the January 14-18, 2016 Wild 
and Scenic Film Festival. SYRCL proposes the use of $10,000 in Economic 
Development Funds to facilitate the delivery of the film festival. Funds will be used 
specifically to promote the Festival to tourists from outside the region, including Reno, 
Chico, Sacramento and the San Francisco Bay Area.  
 
The Wild and Scenic Film Festival, founded in 1983, was purposely established in 
January at a time when business is usually slow. Last year, the Festival showed more 
than 120 films and attracted approximately 5,500 attendees, 40% of which were from 
outside the region. SYRCL reports that 78% of programming occurs in Nevada City. 
 
Staff has reviewed the attached proposal and confirmed it meets eligibility requirements.  
 
ENVIRONMENTAL CONSIDERATIONS:  Not applicable. 
 
FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS:  The City’s Economic Development Fund currently 
has a balance of $50,000 and can accommodate the SYRCL request. 
 
ATTACHMENT:   

 SYRCL Application for Economic Development Fund 
 City of Nevada City Economic Development Fund Policy and Procedures 

53

http://www.nevadacityca.gov/


54



55



56



57



58



City of Nevada City  

Economic Development Fund 

Policy and Procedures 

The City of Nevada City’s Economic Development Fund provides funding for economic development‐

related activities providing a public benefit to the City. The primary purpose of the Economic 

Development Fund is to provide grants, loans and sponsorships of at least $5,000 promoting Nevada 

City’s commerce and increase business activity to help achieve the following goals:    

 Diversify the local economy 

 Promote economic vitality in Nevada City 

 Increase the tax base 

 Leverage other resources to create and retain employment 

 Meet or support NCFORWARD economic plan goals 

Applications will be accepted on a first‐come, first‐served basis, and at any time. The fund will receive an 

annual allocation, established by City Council. Any funds not used during the fiscal year will be carried 

over to the next fiscal year. Periodically, this Policy will be updated to address any necessary changes.    

GENERAL ELIGIBILITY REQUIREMENTS 

A. The fund is available for economic development‐related activities/efforts located in the City of 

Nevada City. 

B. Proposed use of funds must meet one or more of the stated goals. 

C. Funds shall be used to provide a public benefit to the City of Nevada City. 

D. Funds cannot be the sole funding source and must leverage public, private or non‐profit 

investment. 

AWARD OF FUNDING 

A. Applications are subject to funding availability. 

B. City Council approval is required for disbursement of funds. 

C. Proposed use of funds must be in compliance with all applicable federal, State and local laws. 

APPLICATION SUBMITTAL AND EVALUATION 

A. Applications are accepted on a first‐come, first‐served basis, at all times. 

B. Unless alternate application procedures are approved by the City Manager, Applicant must 

complete and submit the City’s application which shall include a requirement to describe how 

the proposed funding will result in an economic benefit to the City/community. 

C. City staff shall review and evaluate each application based on the fund’s eligibility requirements 

and funding criteria. 

D. City staff or City Council may request follow‐up information from the applicant to complete 

evaluation of the application. Applicant shall provide the requested information by the date 

designated. 

E. Applications meeting eligibility requirements and funding criteria shall be reviewed for 

consideration by the City Council at a public meeting.  

F. The City Council will exercise full control over disbursement of funds, including any conditions it 

applies to use of funds. 

59



60



61



62



63



64



65



66



67



68



69



70



71



72



73



74



75



76



77



78



79



80



81



82



83



84



85



86



87



88



89



REPORT TO CITY COUNCIL    City of Nevada City 
         317 Broad Street 
         Nevada City, CA 95959 

November 18, 2015     www.nevadacityca.gov 

 

 

TITLE: Summary of the State’s Medical Marijuana Regulation & Safety Act and Its 

Applicability to City’s Authority to Regulate Marijuana Cultivation and Distribution 

within the City. 

RECOMMENDATION:  Consider options for regulating medical marijuana cultivation 

within the City and refer to the Planning Commission for their review and 

recommendation of draft ordinance. 

CONTACT:  Crystal Hodgson, Deputy City Attorney, Associate Attorney with Jones & 

Mayer, cvh@jones-mayer.com; (916) 771-0635. 

BACKGROUND / DISCUSSION:  

The California State Legislature just enacted the Medical Marijuana Regulation and 

Safety Act (the “MMRSA”), effective January 1, 2016, which brings forth significant 

changes to the medical marijuana regulatory landscape in the State.  The MMRSA 

establishes a state licensing system for medical marijuana cultivation and commercial 

activities including operation of dispensaries, manufacturing of plants into products, 

testing, and transporting marijuana.  It also enables state agencies to develop 

regulations for a host of marijuana related activities including: use of pesticides in 

cultivation, use of state water resources and electricity in cultivation, quality standards 

and testing requirements for marijuana and products containing cannabis, packaging 

and labelling of products, track and trace program to track seed to sale transactions, 

and penalties for inappropriate doctor recommendations and activities profiting from 

marijuana transactions.  

The MMRSA enacted by the State does not legalize recreational use; one must still be a 

“qualified patient” or “primary caregiver” as defined by Health & Safety Code section 

11362.5, to receive immunity from state prosecution for specified marijuana crimes.  

However, the MMRSA phases out the “co-op/ collective” model for distribution of 

medical marijuana, and replaces it with a licensing system, whereby licensees who are 

not qualified patients or primary caregivers can legally engage in the production and 

distribution of medical marijuana to qualified patients and primary caregivers, provided 

that they are in compliance with the new state licensing requirements, AND local 

government requirements.  Under the MMRSA, cooperatives and collectives may still 

operate until one year from the date the state begins issuing marijuana cultivation 

licenses.   

90

http://www.nevadacityca.gov/
mailto:cvh@jones-mayer.com


 

The State-enacted MMRSA does not preempt cities and counties from continuing to 

(ban sales of medical marijuana or initiating a ban on marijuana cultivation or 

distribution of medical marijuana within their jurisdictions or regulating it in ways that are 

consistent with the state new licensing requirements.  However, to the extent not 

currently banned or regulated, the MMRSA does require cities and counties to take 

affirmative steps to preserve their authority to regulate marijuana cultivation and 

commercial activities within their jurisdictions.  Most notably, the MMRSA requires local 

jurisdictions to have some regulation of marijuana cultivation in place by March 1, 

2016, or the state’s licensing system will be the sole licensing scheme for marijuana 

cultivation within that jurisdiction, and the local government will lose authority to regulate 

marijuana cultivation within its jurisdiction.       

The City Attorney’s Office has prepared a memorandum containing a more thorough 

summary of the new state laws.  It is attached for your review as “Exhibit A” hereto.  

Crystal Hodgson, Deputy City Attorney, has also prepared an oral presentation 

explaining the new law and its impacts on the City.   

City’s Current Marijuana Regulations 

Currently, the City prohibits marijuana dispensaries within the City.  The City Council 

adopted this prohibition in 2009, by Ordinance No. 2009-08, which added Chapter 9.22 

to the Nevada City Municipal Code.  A copy of the ordinance is attached hereto as 

“Exhibit B” for your reference.    

The City has not enacted any law regulating or prohibiting marijuana cultivation within 

the City.     

Discussion Item 

Since the City does not currently have an ordinance banning or otherwise regulating 

marijuana cultivation within the City, the City Attorney’s Office is recommending that the 

City Council consider adoption of an ordinance regulating marijuana cultivation within 

the City effective by March 1, 2016, in order to preserve its authority to continue to 

regulate marijuana cultivation within the City, as permitted by the new state law.  Again, 

if it fails to do so at this time, it will lose its ability to do so in the future. 

Due to the time constraints for taking action our office has drafted and included two 

ordinances for your consideration and direction: a model ordinance banning all 

marijuana cultivation, attached hereto as “Exhibit C” and a draft sample ordinance 

banning all outdoor grows and allowing only limited indoor cultivation for qualified 

patients and primary caregivers, attached hereto as “Exhibit D.”  These sample 

ordinances represent two possible approaches the City can take to regulate marijuana, 

although there are a variety of approaches that are allowed under state law that the City 

Council may consider.   

91



It is requested that you consider the sample ordinances, discuss your preferred 

approach to regulating cultivation, and direct staff to initiate the ordinance adoption 

procedure by referral to the Planning Commission for its review and recommendation at 

its December 17, 2015 meeting.  This will allow enough time for bringing the 

recommended ordinance back to the City Council for adoption in time to meet the 

required March 1st deadline for enacting some type of marijuana cultivation, thus 

preserving the City’s authority to regulate marijuana cultivation in the future.        

ENVIRONMENTAL CONSIDERATIONS:  

None. 

FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS:   

None. 

ATTACHMENTS: 

Exhibit A – Memorandum: Summary of the Medical Marijuana Regulation & Safety Act 

Exhibit B – Nevada City Ordinance No. 2009-08, Adding Chapter 9.22 regarding 

Medical Marijuana Dispensaries 

Exhibit C – Draft model ordinance to ban all marijuana cultivation within the City 

Exhibit D – Draft sample ordinance to allow limited indoor cultivation by qualified 

patients and primary caregivers 

 

 

92



MEMORANDUM 

 

 

To:  Mayor and City Councilmembers 

From:  Hal DeGraw, City Attorney; Ryan R. Jones, Assistant City Attorney 

By:   G. Ross Trindle, III, Crystal V. Hodgson, and Keith F. Collins – Jones & Mayer  

Date:   November 18, 2015  

Subject:  Summary of the Medical Marijuana Regulation & Safety Act 

 

 

In the two decades that have passed since California voters approved the Compassionate Use Act, cities 

and counties have been left without state regulations or guidance on how to regulate the way medical 

marijuana is cultivated, processed, or distributed for medical consumption. On October 9, 2015, Governor 

Brown signed the “Medical Marijuana Regulation & Safety Act” (AB 243, AB 266, and SB 643) 

(“MMRSA”) into law.  The MMRSA creates a state licensing and regulatory framework for medical 

marijuana cultivation and manufacturing of medical cannabis products, and for commercial medical 

cannabis activities including operation of dispensaries, distributions, and transporting. The MMRSA also 

regulates labeling of edible medical marijuana products, environmental problems caused by cultivation, 

and physicians who give excessive marijuana recommendations or recommendations without prior 

examination. 

 

It is important for cities and counties to note, the MMRSA explicitly permits cities and counties to prohibit 

medical marijuana cultivation or manufacturing, or commercial activities such as operation of dispensaries 

and other distribution facilities and activities under local ordinances or to continue regulating these 

activities in ways consistent with the new state law as long as cities and counties require state minimum 

regulations to be met. So the state law does not usurp local governments’ power to ban or regulate these 

activities consistent with their communities’ unique needs, rather it introduces a dual licensing scheme 

that must be satisfied at the local and state level. 

 

The major provisions of the MMRSA are discussed in more detail below.  

 

New Regulations and State Licensing of Medical Marijuana Cultivation 

 

Under the MMRSA, the Department of Food and Agriculture is charged with licensing and regulating 

both indoor and outdoor medical marijuana cultivation sites. The law creates several types of cultivation 

licenses designated by grow location (indoor/outdoor), size of grow (from under 5,000 square feet up to 

22,000 square feet), and type of lighting used (artificial vs. natural). The state law provides that qualified 

patients growing 100 square feet of marijuana or less for personal consumption and primary caregivers 

growing 500 square feet or less for the medical use of 5 or fewer specified qualified patients for whom 

he/she is the primary caregiver are exempted from the state cultivation license requirement; however, 

cities and counties may still chose to completely ban or regulate these activities under the MMRSA.  That 

would have the practical effect of prohibiting those activities as the state will not grant a license without 

compliance with local laws  

 

Under the MMRSA, an applicant for a state cultivation license must first obtain any required city or county 

license, permit, or entitlement for cultivation. Cities and counties are required to notify the state when they 

issue a cultivation permit, which must be conditional on the applicant also receiving a state cultivation 

license.  

 

93



One significant provision states that if a city does not have a land use or regulatory ordinance regulating 

or prohibiting cultivation, commencing March 1, 2016, the state shall be the sole licensing authority for 

cultivation applicants within the city.  While “clean up” legislation may be introduced in January to 

address the obvious conflict between this specific provision and the general dual licensing scheme, cities 

are encouraged to immediately start work on getting an ordinance in place, so as not to unnecessarily cede 

licensing authority to the state, if an ordinance is not already in place 

 

Under the MMRSA, the Department of Pesticide Regulations is charged with regulating the use of 

pesticides in medical cannabis cultivation and maximum levels in harvested cannabis, and the Department 

of Public Health is tasked with developing standards for the production and labeling of all edible medical 

cannabis products. The MMRSA has a number of environmental provisions as well, including authorizing 

the Department of Fish and Game to enforce unlawful diversions and regional water resources control 

boards to prevent pollution from illegal waste water discharges.  The MMRSA is silent as to the possible 

application of the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA). 

 

New Regulations and State Licensing of Medical Marijuana Dispensaries, Distributors & Transporters 

 

The MMRSA establishes the Bureau of Medical Marijuana Regulation within the Department of 

Consumer Affairs, charged with the responsibility of licensing dispensaries, distributors, transporters, and 

special dispensaries. It requires that those engaging in the commercial cannabis activity must obtain a state 

license and a city or county license, permit, or entitlement prior to commencing such activity. Cities and 

counties are required to notify the state when they issue licenses for these activities, which must be 

conditional on the applicant also receiving a state license.  

 

The MMRSA allows cities and counties to ban these activities, or to regulate them in ways not inconsistent 

with the new state regulations. It requires local jurisdictions desiring to prohibit marijuana delivery 

services within their jurisdictions to enact an ordinance affirmatively banning this activity, and prohibits 

medical marijuana licensees from also holding licenses to sell alcohol.  Currently, there is no stated 

deadline for enacting any affirmative delivery ban. The MMRSA exempts qualified patients and primary 

caregivers providing cannabis to no more than 5 specified patients from the requirement to obtain a state 

license to distribute or transport medical marijuana; however, cities and counties may still chose to 

completely ban or regulate these activities under the MMRSA.  That would have the practical effect of 

prohibiting those activities as the state will not grant a license without compliance with local laws. 

 

The law requires a separate license for each location where the commercial cannabis activity occurs, 

requires cultivators and manufacturers to have products tested for quality assurance, and prohibits a 

licensee from holding more than 2 types of licenses in certain categories, although there is an specific 

exception for businesses that were required by local ordinance to cultivate and manufacture or distribute 

on the same site before July 1, 2015.    

 

The MMRSA also requires uniform health and safety standards, testing standards, and security 

requirements at dispensaries and during the transport of marijuana products, and provides for civil 

penalties for unlicensed medical marijuana activities.  

 

New Regulations and Penalties for Physicians Who Illegally Recommend Medical Cannabis  

 

This MMRSA requires the California Medical Board to prioritize investigation and prosecution of 

excessive recommendations of medical marijuana by physicians, imposes a $5,000 fine for physicians 

who have a financial interest in a marijuana business, imposes restrictions on advertising for physician 

94



recommendations, and provides that a recommendation for cannabis without a physical examination 

constitutes unprofessional conduct. 

 

State Licensing Timeline and Other Marijuana Issues on the Horizon 

 

The MMRSA does not require the designated state agencies to begin issuing licenses by a stated deadline, 

they are expected to begin issuing licenses by January 1, 2018.  The MMRSA provides that an entity or 

facility that is in compliance with state and local land use and safety regulations on or before January 1, 

2018, may continue its operations until its application for licensure is approved or denied by the state.   

 

Although the MMRSA goes a long way in providing a regulatory framework for medical marijuana 

cultivation, manufacturing, delivering and dispensing within the state, there are still unresolved, pending, 

and anticipated marijuana issues on the horizon.  Marijuana cultivation, use, possession, and distribution 

are still illegal under federal law.  Although, federal courts and the US Supreme Court have avoided ruling 

squarely on whether California’s medical marijuana laws are preempted by the federal ban, it is only a 

matter of time before the issue is resolved by the courts or a change in federal law.  There are also pending 

initiatives in California to legalize marijuana for recreational use under state law, which would create new 

challenges for local governments.  Our firm will keep you apprised of legal developments as they arise.   

95



96



97



ORDINANCE NO. ______ 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF [INSERT 
CITY NAME], CALIFORNIA, ADDING CHAPTER ___ TO THE CITY OF 
[INSERT CITY NAME] CITY MUNICIPAL CODE PROHIBITING 
MARIJUANA CULTIVATION  

 
WHEREAS, the City of [INSERT CITY NAME], pursuant to its police power, may 

adopt regulations to protect the health, safety and welfare of the public, Cal. Const. 
art. XI, § 7, Cal. Govt. Code § 37100, and thereby is authorized to declare what use 
or condition constitutes a public nuisance; and 

 
WHEREAS, Section 38771 of the California Government Code 38771 

authorizes the City through its legislative body to declare actions and activities that 
constitute a public nuisance; and 

 
WHEREAS, in 1970, Congress enacted the Controlled Substances Act (21 

U.S.C. Section 801 et seq.) which, among other things, makes it illegal to import, 
manufacture, distribute, possess, or use marijuana for any purpose in the United 
States and further provides criminal penalties for marijuana possession, cultivation 
and distribution; and 

 
WHEREAS, the People of the State of California have enacted Proposition 215, 

the Compassionate Use Act of 1996 (codified at Health and Safety Code Section 
11362.5 et seq.) (the “CUA”), which exempts qualified patients and their primary 
caregivers from criminal prosecution under enumerated Health and Safety Code 
sections for use of marijuana for medical purposes; and 

 
WHEREAS, the California Legislature enacted Senate Bill 420 in 2003, the 

Medical Marijuana Program Act (codified at Health and Safety Code Section 11362.7 
et seq.) (the “MMPA”), as amended, which created a state-wide identification card 
scheme for qualified patients and primary caregivers; and 

 
WHEREAS, on October 11, 2015, the Governor signed into law Senate Bill 643, 

Assembly Bill 266, and Assembly Bill 243, collectively referred to as the Medical 
Marijuana Regulation and Safety Act (“MMRSA”), effective January 1, 2016, which 
establishes a state licensing system for medical marijuana cultivation, manufacturing, 
delivery, and dispensing, regulating these activities with licensing requirements and 
regulations that are only applicable if cities and counties also permit marijuana 
cultivation, manufacturing, dispensing, and delivery within their jurisdictions.  Under 
the MMRSA, cities and counties may continue to ban medical marijuana cultivation, 
manufacturing, dispensing, and delivery, in which case the new law would not allow or 
permit these activities within the cities and counties; and   

 
WHEREAS, notwithstanding the CUA, the MMPA, and the MMRSA, marijuana 

remains a schedule I substance pursuant to Cal. Health & Saf. Code § 11054 (d)(13); 
and 

 

98



WHEREAS, marijuana also remains a schedule I substance pursuant to federal 
law, 21 U.S.C. § 812, Schedule 1 (c)(10), and federal law does not provide for any 
medical use defense or exception (Gonzales v. Raich, 545 U.S. 1 (2005); United 
States v. Oakland Cannabis Buyers’ Coop., 532 U.S. 483 (2001)); and  

 
WHEREAS, the California Supreme Court has established that neither the CUA 

nor the MMPA preempt local regulation in the case of City of Riverside v. Inland Empire 
Patients Health and Wellness Center, Inc., 56 Cal. 4th 729 (2013); and 

 
WHEREAS, the MMRSA expressly allows cities and counties to ban marijuana 

cultivation consistent with current state law including the City of Riverside v. Inland 
Empire Patients Health and Wellness Center, Inc., 56 Cal. 4th 729 (2013); 

 
WHEREAS, the MMRSA provides that if a city, county, or city and county does 

not have land use regulations or ordinances regulating or prohibiting the cultivation of 
marijuana, either expressly or otherwise under the principles of permissive zoning, or 
chooses not to administer a conditional permit program pursuit to the MMRSA, then 
commencing March 1, 2016, the state will be the sole licensing authority for medical 
marijuana cultivation applicants (Health & Safety Code section 11372.777(c)(4));   

 
WHEREAS, the City intends by the adoption of this ordinance to prohibit 

marijuana cultivation within the City for the express and specific purpose of preserving 
the City’s authority to ban and/or adopt future regulations pertaining to marijuana 
cultivation as is required by California Health and Safety Code section 
11372.777(c)(4), effective January 1, 2016, added by the MMRSA; and  

 
[[PERMISSIVE ZONING, ADD:]  WHEREAS, the City of [INSERT CITY 

NAME]’s permissive Zoning Code does not list marijuana cultivation as a permitted 
use in any zone in the City; and] 

 
[[FOR PRIOR POLICY AGAINST, ADD:] WHEREAS, the City Council of the 

City of [INSERT CITY NAME] finds that it is in the interest of the health, safety and 
welfare of the City to make explicit that marijuana cultivation is prohibited anywhere in 
the City and is a public nuisance per se; and]  

 
[[FOR PRIOR POLICY AGAINST, ADD:] WHEREAS, the City Council finds that 

the cultivation of marijuana significantly impacts, or has the potential to significantly 
impact, the City’s jurisdiction. These impacts include the following:  

 
A. Public safety agencies, city residents, and other public entities have reported 

adverse impacts from marijuana cultivation, including disagreeable odors and 
release of pollen that can aggravate the respiratory system; increased risk of 
burglary and other property crimes; and acts of violence in connection with the 
commission of such crimes or the occupants' attempts to prevent such crimes.  

B. The creation of persistent strong odors as marijuana plants mature and flower 
is offensive to many people and creates an attractive nuisance, alerting 
persons to the location of valuable marijuana plants and creating an increased 
risk of crime.  

99



C. The unregulated cultivation of marijuana can adversely affect the health, safety 
and well-being of the city and its residents. Comprehensive regulation of 
premises used for marijuana cultivation is proper and necessary to avoid the 
risks of criminal activity, degradation of the natural environment, smells and 
indoor electrical fire hazards that may result from unregulated marijuana 
cultivation, especially if the amount of marijuana cultivated on a single premises 
is not regulated and substantial amounts of marijuana can be cultivated in a 
concentrated place.  

D. The indoor cultivation of substantial amounts of marijuana also frequently 
requires excessive use of electricity, which often creates an unreasonable risk 
of fire from the electrical grow lighting systems used in indoor cultivation.  

E. Children are particularly vulnerable to the effects of marijuana use, and the 
presence of marijuana plants has proven to be an attractive nuisance for 
children, creating an unreasonable hazard in areas frequented by children 
including hospitals, schools, church parks or playgrounds, childcare centers, 
recreation centers or youth centers. Cultivation of any amount of marijuana at, 
or near these sensitive uses presents unique risks that the marijuana plants 
may be observed by juveniles, and therefore be especially vulnerable to theft 
or recreational consumption by juveniles. Further, the potential for criminal 
activities associated with marijuana cultivation in such locations poses 
heightened risks that juveniles will be involved or endangered. Therefore, 
cultivation of any amount of marijuana in such locations or premises is 
especially hazardous to public safety and welfare, and to the protection of 
children and the person(s) cultivating the marijuana plants.  

 
F. The cultivation of marijuana in other cities has resulted in calls for service to 

the police department, including calls for robberies thefts, and physical 
assaults from marijuana that is grown outdoors;  

 
G. Marijuana growth poses significant safety risks for surrounding neighbors, 

including but not limits to, risks of violent confrontation in connection with 
attempts to steal marijuana, risk of fire from improperly wired electrical lights 
within structures growing marijuana, risk of guard dogs and security 
measures associated with structures and properties growing marijuana; and 
 

H. Staff and residents of the city have observed that the smell associated with 
marijuana cultivation is severe enough that it interferes with the use and 
enjoyment of property in the city.] 

 
[[FOR PRIOR POLICY AGAINST, ADD:  Whereas the City Council finds that 

sanctioning the cultivation of marijuana would be inconsistent with federal law; and] 
 
WHEREAS, the City of [INSERT CITY NAME], California, pursuant to the 

provisions of the California Environmental Quality Act (hereinafter “CEQA”) 
(California Public Resources Code Sections 21000 et seq.) and State CEQA 

100



guidelines (Sections 15000 et seq.) has determined that the Ordinance is exempt 
pursuant to Section 15061(b)(3) of Title 14 the California Code of Regulations; and 

 
WHEREAS, the City Council finds that the provisions of this Ordinance are 

consistent with the City of [INSERT CITY NAME]’s General Plan; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City Council finds that this Ordinance will not adversely affect 

property values and will not be detrimental to the City; and  
 
 WHEREAS, on  [INSERT DATE]                                            , 2015, 

following proper notice and public hearing, the City’s Planning Commission adopted 
Resolution No. [INSERT RESO. NO.]  recommending to the City Council the 
adoption of an Ordinance amending Title [INSERT TITLE NO.] of the [INSERT CITY 
NAME]  Municipal Code, relating to marijuana cultivation; and  

 
WHEREAS, the City Council has considered evidence presented by the 

Planning Commission and City Staff at a duly noticed public hearing held on 
[INSERT DATE]; and 

 
WHEREAS, all legal prerequisites prior to the adoption of this ordinance have 

occurred. 
 
NOW THEREFORE, THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF [INSERT CITY 

NAME] DOES ORDAIN AS FOLLOWS: 
 
SECTION 1: The City Council finds that all the facts, findings, and conclusions set forth 
above in this Ordinance are true and correct. 
 
SECTION 2: Chapter [INSERT] is hereby added to the INSERT CITY NAME] Municipal 
Code to read as follows: 
 
Chapter [INSERT NO.] Marijuana Cultivation 
 
1.  Purpose. 
 
The City Council of the City [INSERT CITY NAME] hereby finds and determines 
that it is the purpose and intent of this article to prohibit marijuana cultivation, in 
order to promote the health, safety, morals and general welfare of the residents 
and the businesses within the City [FOR CITIES LOOKING TO REGULATE, ADD: 
by maintaining local control over the ability to authorize and regulate marijuana-
related businesses, including cultivation.] 
 
2. Applicability 
 
A. Nothing in this article is intended, nor shall it be construed, to burden any defense 

to criminal prosecution under the CUA. 
B. All the provisions of this article shall apply to all property, public and private, within 

the City. 
 

101



C. All the provisions of this article shall apply indoors and outdoors. 
 

3.   Definitions 
 
The following definitions apply to this chapter: 
 
A. “Marijuana” shall have the same definition as that set forth in California Health & 

Safety Code Section 11018. 
 

B. “Medical marijuana” shall mean marijuana used for medical purposes in 
accordance with California Health and Safety Code section 11362.5. 

 
C. “Marijuana cultivation” shall mean the planting, growing, harvesting drying or 

processing of marijuana plants or any part thereof for any purpose, including 
medical marijuana, and shall include both indoor and outdoor cultivation. 
 

D.  “Person” shall mean any person, firm, corporation, association, club, society, or 
other organization. The term person shall include any owner, manager, proprietor, 
employee, volunteer and/or salesperson. 
 
 

4. Cultivation of marijuana prohibited 
 
Marijuana cultivation by any person, including primary caregivers, qualified patients and 
dispensaries, is prohibited in all zone districts within the City of [INSERT CITY NAME].  
 
 
5. Declaration of public nuisance 

 
Any use, structure, or property that is altered, enlarged, erected, established, 

maintained, moved, or operated contrary to the provisions of this article, is hereby 
declared to be unlawful and a public nuisance and may be abated by the city through 
civil[, criminal, and/or administrative proceedings] by means of a restraining order, 
preliminary or permanent injunction, or in any other manner provided by law for the 
abatement of such nuisances. 

 
5. Violations 

 
A. Violations of this article shall be punishable pursuant to [INSERT GENERAL 

VIOLATIONS CHAPTER NO.] of this Code. 
 

B. This article is not the exclusive means for the abatement of marijuana 
dispensaries within the City of [INSERT CITY NAME]. The remedies set forth 
pursuant to this section shall be in addition to any other existing remedies for 
violations of the Zoning Code, including but not limited to, any action at law or 
equity. 
 

102



 
SECTION 3:  Any provision of the [INSERT CITY NAME] Municipal Code or appendices 
thereto inconsistent with the provisions of this Ordinance, to the extent of such 
inconsistencies and no further, is hereby repealed or modified to that extent necessary to 
effect the provisions of this Ordinance. 
 
SECTION 4:  Should any provision of this Ordinance, or its application to any person or 
circumstance, be determined by a court of competent jurisdiction to be unlawful, 
unenforceable or otherwise void, that determination shall have no effect on any other 
provision of this Ordinance or the application of this Ordinance to any other person or 
circumstance and, to that end, the provisions hereof are severable. The City Council of 
the City of [INSERT CITY NAME] declares that it would have adopted all the provisions 
of this ordinance that remain valid if any provisions of this ordinance are declared invalid. 
 
SECTION 5:  The Mayor shall sign and the City Clerk shall certify to the passage and 
adoption of this Ordinance and shall cause the same to be published and posted pursuant 
to the provisions of law in that regard and this Ordinance shall take effect 30 days after 
its final passage. 
 

APPROVED FOR INTRODUCTION AT A REGULAR MEETING on the ____th day 
of _________, 2015, by the following vote: 
 

AYES: COUNCIL MEMBERS:   
NOES: COUNCIL MEMBERS:   
ABSENT: COUNCIL MEMBERS:   

  
PASSED, APPROVED, AND ADOPTED this _____th day of __________, 2015, 

by the following vote: 
 

AYES: COUNCIL MEMBERS:   
NOES: COUNCIL MEMBERS:   
ABSENT: COUNCIL MEMBERS:   

 
 

_____________________________ 
       _________________, Mayor 

 
 
 
 

ATTEST:       APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
 
_____________________________         
__________, City Clerk     _______________, City Attorney 
 
 
 
STATE OF CALIFORNIA ) 
COUNTY OF ________  ) ss. 
CITY  OF ____________ ) 
 
 

103



I, ___________, City Clerk of _______________, do hereby certify that the foregoing 
ordinance was introduced on the ______th day of ____________, 2015, was regularly 
adopted at a meeting thereof on the ____th day of __________, 2015 and was 
published/posted pursuant to law. 
 
 
 
 

_____________________________ 
_______________, City Clerk 

 
 

104



Chapter 17.140 
MARIJUANA CULTIVATION 

Sections: 

17.140.010    Purpose. 

17.140.020    Definitions. 

17.140.030    Outdoor cultivation of marijuana. 

17.140.040    Indoor cultivation of marijuana. 

17.140.045    Cultivation permit. 

17.140.050    Public nuisance. 

17.140.055    Sale of medical marijuana prohibited. 

17.140.060    Enforcement. 

17.140.070    Penalty for violation. 

17.140.010 Purpose. 

The purpose and intent of this chapter are to require that medical marijuana be cultivated only in appropriately 

secured, enclosed, and ventilated structures, so as not to be visible to the general public, to provide for the 

health, safety and welfare of the public, to prevent negative impacts to property values, to prevent odor created 

by marijuana plants from impacting adjacent properties, to prevent crime associated with marijuana, and to 

ensure that marijuana grown for medical purposes remains secure and does not find its way to nonpatients, 

minors, or illicit markets. Nothing in this chapter is intended to authorize the cultivation, possession, or use of 

marijuana for nonmedical purposes in violation of state or federal law. It is not the intent of this chapter to 

create conflict or inconsistency between this chapter and (A) the Constitutions of the United States or the state 

of California; (B) the federal Controlled Substances Act; or (C) California law.  

17.140.020 Definitions. 

For purposes of this chapter, the following definitions shall apply, unless the context clearly indicates otherwise: 

“Abatement” means the removal of marijuana plants and improvements that support marijuana cultivation 

which occupy an area or cubic feet in excess of the area and cubic feet that is allowed under this chapter. 

“Bedroom” means a room inside a residential building being utilized by any person primarily for sleeping 

purposes. 

“Child care center” means any licensed child care center, daycare center, or child care home, or any preschool. 

105

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/RanchoCordova/html/ranchocordova06/RanchoCordova0690.html#6.90.010
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/RanchoCordova/html/ranchocordova06/RanchoCordova0690.html#6.90.020
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/RanchoCordova/html/ranchocordova06/RanchoCordova0690.html#6.90.030
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/RanchoCordova/html/ranchocordova06/RanchoCordova0690.html#6.90.040
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/RanchoCordova/html/ranchocordova06/RanchoCordova0690.html#6.90.045
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/RanchoCordova/html/ranchocordova06/RanchoCordova0690.html#6.90.050
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/RanchoCordova/html/ranchocordova06/RanchoCordova0690.html#6.90.055
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/RanchoCordova/html/ranchocordova06/RanchoCordova0690.html#6.90.060
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/RanchoCordova/html/ranchocordova06/RanchoCordova0690.html#6.90.070


“Cultivated area” means any area indoors that is the greater of either (A) the total area of a property that is 

densely or primarily occupied by marijuana cultivation; or (B) one square foot per juvenile or mature marijuana 

plant indoors on the property. 

“Cultivation” or “marijuana cultivation” means the planting, growing, harvesting, drying, or processing of 

marijuana plants, or any part thereof. 

“Fully enclosed and secure structure” means a space within a building, greenhouse or other structure which 

has a complete roof enclosure supported by connecting walls extending from the ground to the roof, which is 

secure against unauthorized entry, provides complete visual screening, and which is accessible only through 

one or more lockable doors and inaccessible to minors. 

“Indoors” means within a fully enclosed and secure structure. 

“Marijuana” means the plant Cannabis sativa L. and any of its derivatives that is six inches in height or taller, 

grown in accordance with state law. 

“Outdoors” means any location within the city of Nevada City that is not within a fully enclosed and secure 

structure. 

“Parcel” means property assigned a separate parcel number by the Nevada County assessor. 

“Premises” means a single, legal parcel of property. Where contiguous legal parcels are under common 

ownership or control, such contiguous legal parcels shall constitute a single “premises” for purposes of this 

chapter. 

“Primary caregiver” means a “primary caregiver” as defined in Section 11362.7(d) of the Health and Safety 

Code, as may be amended from time to time. 

“Qualified patient” means a “qualified patient” as defined in Section 11362.7(f) of the Health and Safety Code. 

“Rear yard” means the rear open space portion of any premises, whether fenced or unfenced. 

“Residential structure” means any building or portion thereof legally existing which contains living facilities, 

including provisions for sleeping, eating, cooking, and sanitation on a premises or legal parcel located within a 

zoning district that allows residential uses. 

106

http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?lawCode=HSC&sectionNum=11362.7
http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?lawCode=HSC&sectionNum=11362.7


“School” means an institution of learning for persons under 21 years of age, whether public or private, offering 

regular course of instruction including, without limitation, a kindergarten, elementary school, middle or junior 

high school, or senior high school. 

“Single-family dwelling” means a detached building designed for and/or occupied by one family which does not 

share walls with another dwelling. 

“Solid fence” means a fence constructed of substantial material (such as wood or vinyl) that prevents viewing 

the contents from one side to the other. 

17.140.030 Outdoor cultivation of marijuana. 

All outdoor cultivation of marijuana within the city is prohibited. It is hereby declared to be unlawful and a public 

nuisance for any person owning, leasing, occupying, or having charge or possession of any parcel within any 

zoning district in the city of Nevada City to cause or allow such parcel to be used for the outdoor cultivation of 

marijuana.  

17.140.040 Indoor cultivation of marijuana. 

A. It is hereby declared to be unlawful and a public nuisance for any person owning, leasing, occupying, or 

having charge or possession of any parcel in the city of Nevada City to cause or allow such parcel to be used 

for the cultivation of marijuana plants within a fully enclosed and secure structure on the parcel, except as 

provided in subsections (B) and (C) of this section. 

B. Who Is Permitted to Cultivate Marijuana Indoors. 

1. Only a person who is at least 18 years old and either a qualified patient or a primary caregiver 

may engage in indoor cultivation of medical marijuana. 

2. Residency Requirement. The qualified patient or primary caregiver shall reside full-time on 

the premises where the indoor cultivation of medical marijuana occurs. 

3. Permission of Owner. Tenants shall obtain the written permission, with notarized signature of 

the property owner(s) prior to cultivating marijuana. Such written permission shall be submitted 

to the city together with the completed cultivation permit application. 

107



4. Permit Required. Prior to engaging in any indoor cultivation of marijuana pursuant to this 

chapter, a qualified patient or primary caregiver shall obtain a cultivation permit from the city’s 

Chief of Police or his or her designee, as provided by NCMC 17.140.045. 

C. Indoor Cultivation Standards. Marijuana cultivated indoors, within the city of Nevada City, shall be in 

conformance with the following standards: 

1. Indoor cultivation of marijuana is permitted only on parcels with single-family residential units. 

2. Marijuana cultivation is permitted only within fully enclosed and secure structures 

inaccessible to minors. If the fully enclosed and secure structure is a residence, it shall be a 

single-family dwelling. No cultivation may occur in duplexes, triplexes, or other multifamily 

dwellings. A fully enclosed and secure structure used for the cultivation of marijuana that is 

separate from the main residence on a premises must maintain a minimum 10-foot setback from 

any property line and the area surrounding the structure must be enclosed by a solid fence at 

least six feet in height. 

3. Marijuana cultivation may not occur in both a detached structure and inside a residence on 

the same parcel. Only one cultivation area is allowed per parcel. 

4. Marijuana cultivation may not occur in a residence where persons under 18 years of age 

reside, whether full- or part-time. 

5. Marijuana cultivation areas in a structure shall not be accessible to persons under 18 years of 

age. Cultivation areas shall be secured by lock and key or other security device which prevents 

unauthorized entry. 

6. Indoor cultivation of marijuana shall not exceed 25 square feet, regardless of how many 

qualified patients or primary caregivers are residing at the premises, unless the Chief of Police 

or his or her or designee has approved a request under subsection (D) of this section. 

7. Marijuana cultivation shall not occur on any carpeted area. 

8. Marijuana cultivation lighting shall not exceed 1,200 watts and shall comply with the California 

Building, Electrical and Fire Codes as adopted by the city. 

108

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/RanchoCordova/html/RanchoCordova06/RanchoCordova0690.html#6.90.045


9. The use of gas products (CO2, butane, etc.) or generators for marijuana cultivation or 

processing is prohibited. 

10. Marijuana cultivation for sale is prohibited. 

11. From a public right-of-way, there shall be no exterior evidence of marijuana cultivation. 

12. The residence shall be occupied and is required to maintain a functioning kitchen and 

bathroom(s), and the use of primary bedrooms are for their intended purpose. These rooms 

shall not be used for marijuana cultivation. 

13. Any marijuana cultivation area located within a residence shall not create a humidity or mold 

problem in violation of Nevada City building and state health and safety codes. 

14. Any structure used for the cultivation of medical marijuana must have proper ventilation to 

prevent mold damage and to prevent marijuana plant odors or particles from becoming a public 

nuisance to surrounding properties or the public. A public nuisance may be deemed to exist if 

the cultivation produces odors which are disturbing to people of normal sensitivity residing or 

present on adjacent or nearby property or areas open to the public. 

15. The marijuana cultivation area shall not adversely affect the health or safety of the nearby 

residents by creating dust, glare, heat, noise, smoke, traffic, vibration, or other impacts, and 

shall not be hazardous due to use or storage of materials, processes, products or wastes. 

16. The marijuana grower shall pay any applicable city taxes relating to marijuana. 

D. Indoor Marijuana Cultivation in Excess of 25 Square Feet. Any proposed marijuana cultivation by an 

individual that may exceed the cultivation area standard maximum of 25 square feet per residence shall require 

administrative review by the Chief of Police or his or her designee, and shall meet the criteria set forth above, 

as well as the additional criteria set forth in subsections (D)(1) through (3) of this section: 

1. Documentation of medical need, such as a physician’s recommendation; and 

2. Inspection of the cultivation area by a building inspector or code enforcement officer to 

confirm that no health or safety concerns are present; and 

109



3. The building official may require additional specific standards to meet the California Building 

Code and Fire Code, including, but not limited to, installation of fire suppression sprinklers.  

17.140.045 Cultivation permit. 

A. Prior to commencing any indoor medical marijuana cultivation, a qualified patient or primary caregiver must 

obtain a medical marijuana cultivation permit from the Chief of Police or his or her designee. The following 

information will be required with the initial permit application and subsequent permit extensions: 

1. A notarized signature from the owner of the property consenting to the cultivation of medical 

marijuana at the premises on a form acceptable to the city, and when the applicant is not the 

sole owner of the property, then written permission of the owner’s consent to allow marijuana 

cultivation to occur on the premise with the owner’s notarized signature. 

2. The name of each person owning, leasing, occupying, or having charge of any legal parcel or 

premises where medical marijuana will be cultivated. 

3. The name of each qualified patient or primary caregiver who participates in the medical 

marijuana cultivation. 

4. A copy of a current valid medical recommendation or county-issued medical marijuana card 

for each qualified patient identified as required above, and for each qualified patient for whom 

any person identified as required above is the primary caregiver. 

5. The physical site address of where the medical marijuana will be cultivated. 

6. A signed consent form, acceptable to the city, authorizing city staff, including the Chief of 

Police  or his or her designee, to conduct a quarterly inspection of the detached, fully enclosed 

and secure structure or area of the residence used for the cultivation of marijuana upon 24 

hours’ notice. 

B. The initial permit shall be valid for one year and each renewal permit shall be valid for one year.   

C. To the extent permitted by law, any personal or medical information submitted with a medical marijuana 

cultivation permit application or permit extension shall be kept confidential and shall only be used for purposes 

of administering this chapter. 

110



D. The Chief of Police, or his or her designee, may, in his or her discretion, deny any application for a medical 

marijuana cultivation permit, or extension thereof, where he or she finds, based on articulated facts, that the 

issuance of such permit, or extension thereof, would be detrimental to the public health, safety, or welfare. A 

prior criminal conviction for a drug-related offense by the permit applicant shall be grounds for denial. The Chief 

of Police shall deny an application for a medical marijuana cultivation permit, or extension thereof, that does not 

demonstrate satisfaction of the minimum requirements of this chapter. Such denial shall be given to the 

applicant in writing and shall describe the grounds for the denial. 

E. A person who is denied a marijuana cultivation permit under this section may appeal such denial within 10 

days of the date the Chief of Police issues the written denial required by subsection (D) of this section. 

F. Upon timely request by the person requesting the marijuana cultivation permit, the appeal hearing process 

and related procedures of a denial of its permit pursuant to this section shall proceed pursuant to the provisions 

of this Title 17. 

G. The finance director may establish a fee or fees required to be paid upon filing of an application for permit(s) 

as provided by this chapter, which fees shall not exceed the reasonable cost of administering this chapter.  

17.140.050 Public nuisance. 

It is hereby declared to be unlawful for any person owning, leasing, occupying, or having charge or possession 

of any parcel within the city of Nevada City to create a public nuisance in the course of cultivating marijuana 

plants or any part thereof. A public nuisance may be deemed to exist if such activity produces: 

A. Odors which are disturbing to people of normal sensitivity residing or present on adjacent or nearby property 

or areas open to the public; 

B. Repeated responses (more than three times in a one-year time period) to the parcel from law enforcement 

officers; 

C. Repeated disruption (more than three times in a one-year time period) to the free passage of persons or 

vehicles in the neighborhood; 

D. Excessive noise in violation of applicable city noise standards in the general plan or municipal code; 

E. Any other impacts on the neighborhood which are disruptive of normal activity in the area.  

17.140.055 Sale of medical marijuana prohibited. 

111



It shall be unlawful for any person cultivating medical marijuana pursuant to this chapter to sell or offer for sale 

the marijuana permitted to be grown under this chapter.  

17.140.060 Enforcement. 

A. The violation of this chapter is hereby declared to be a public nuisance. Any person violating any provision of 

this chapter shall be deemed guilty of a misdemeanor and, upon conviction, shall be punished by a fine not to 

exceed the amount provided in Penal Code Section 19, as may be amended from time to time, by 

imprisonment in the county jail not to exceed six months, or by both a fine and imprisonment. 

B. A violation of this chapter may be abated by the city attorney by the prosecution of a civil action for injunctive 

relief and by the abatement procedure set forth in Chapter 8.04 NCMC. 

C. Abatement Procedure. The code enforcement officer and/or the Chief of Police, or his or her designee 

(hereafter the “enforcement official”), are hereby authorized to order the abatement of any violation of this 

chapter by following the abatement procedure as defined in Chapter 8.04 NCMC. In addition, the enforcement 

official may require the property owner or tenant to personally abate/remove all medical marijuana plants and 

improvements to the property that exceed the limits set by this chapter. 

17.140.070 Penalty for violation. 

A. Cultivation of marijuana on parcels within the city that does not comply with this chapter is a misdemeanor 

subject to the penalties and enforcement as provided in NCMC sections 1.12.010. 

B. The remedies and penalties provided herein are cumulative, alternative and nonexclusive. The use of one 

does not prevent the use of any others, including those in NCMC section 1.12.010 and Chapter 8.04 NCMC, 

and none of these penalties and remedies prevents the city from using any other remedy at law or in equity 

which may be available to enforce this chapter or to abate a public nuisance.  

 

112

http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?lawCode=PEN&sectionNum=19
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/RanchoCordova/html/RanchoCordova16/RanchoCordova1618.html#16.18
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/RanchoCordova/html/RanchoCordova01/RanchoCordova0101.html#1.01.190
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/RanchoCordova/html/RanchoCordova16/RanchoCordova1618.html#16.18

	1-REGULAR CITY COUNCIL MEETING 11.18.2015.pdf
	3A-1 September 2015 Accounts Payable Report
	3A-2 October 2015 Accounts Payable Report
	4A 10 28 15  Draft Action Only Minutes
	5A-1 stfrpt 11-18-15 AB1600possibleproject
	5A-2 attachment
	5B-1 stfrpt Brownsfield Grant Application
	5B-2 Providence Quartz Mill Project Description
	5B-3 Brownsfields Maps
	5B-4 Reso 2015-XX - Brownsfields Grant
	7A-1 Transaction and Use Tax Extension
	7A-2 Ordinance 2015 - Use Tax Extension
	8A-1 Wild and Scenic Film Festival Street Closure Request
	8A-2 Wild and Scenic Film Festival Street Closure Application
	8A-3 2015 City of Nevada City Special Events Road Closures- Events
	8B-1 Wild and Scenic Film Festival Funding Request
	8B-2 Wild and Scenic Econ Dev Fund Application
	8B-3 Economic Development Fund Policy
	8C-1 Short Term Rental Initiative Measure
	8D-1 Initiative Measure Submitted 10092015
	8D-2 Title and Summary
	8E-1 Staff Report State Marijuana Law Update
	8E-2 Nevada City Summary Memo of Medical Marijuana Regulation  Safety Act (102115)
	8E-3 Ordinance 2009-08
	8E-4 Model Marijuana Cultivation Ban Ordinance
	8E-5 Draft Indoor Cultivation Ordinance



